IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC10-347

THE FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

DEVON NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION INC. D/B/A DEVON NEIGHBORHOOD & CONDOMINIUMS A-J ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Fourth District Case No.: 4D09-377

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Philip E. Ward
Jeffrey T. Kuntz
Roland E. Schwartz
GRAYROBINSON, P.A.
401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 1850
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone: 954.761.8111/Telecopier: 954.761.8112

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
A. Devon's Insurance Claim1
B. Devon's Supplemental Claim
C. Devon's Lawsuit and FIGA's Appraisal Demand3
i. FIGA's Appraisal Demand3
ii. Discovery And Related Issues In The Trial Court6
D. The Fourth District's Opinion9
II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
III. ARGUMENT
A. STANDARD OF REVIEW13
B. THE AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 627.7015 CANNOT BE RETROACTIVELY APPLIED14
i. The Legislature Did Not Indicate That The Statute Should Be Applied Retroactively20
ii. Retroactive Application Of The Statutory Amendments Cannot Withstand Constitutional Scrutiny23
C. FIGA IS NOT LIABLE FOR STATUTORY VIOLATIONS, IF ANY, OF AN INSOLVENT INSURER31
D. FIGA DID NOT WAIVE THE RIGHT TO APPRAISAL34
IV. CONCLUSION40
CERTIFICATE OF TYPEFACE COMPLIANCE41
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE42

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Allen v. Butterworth, 756 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2000)27
Am. Capital Assurance Corp. v. Courtney Meadows Apartment, L.L.P., 36 So. 3d 704 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)
Bankers Sec. Ins. Co. v. Brady, 765 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)38
Bared and Co., Inc. v. Spec. Maint. and Constr. Inc., 610 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)35
Bonati v. Clark, 975 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)
Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204, 109 S.Ct. 468, 102 L.Ed.2d 493 (1988)
Buckley v. State, 966 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 2007)
Bunkley v. State, 833 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 2002)13
Bunch v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Co., 370 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979)24
Bunkley v. Florida, 538 U.S. 835 (2003)13
Carrazana v. Fla. Ins. Guar. Assoc., Inc., 374 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)32
Citigroup, Inc. v. Holtsberg, 915 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)27
Crescent Miami Ctr., LLC v. Fla. Dep't of Rev., 903 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 2005)21
Dewberry v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., 363 So. 2d 1077 (Fla.1978) 24, 25, 28
Esancy v. Hodges, 727 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)23
Farmers Auto. Ins. Ass'n v. Union Pacific Ry. Co., 68 N.W. 2d 596 (Wis. 2009)26
Fed. Nat. Ins. Co. v. Esposito, 937 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)26
Fernandez v. Fla. Ins. Guar. Assoc., Inc., 383 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)32
FIGA v. R.V.M.P. Corp., 874 F. 2d 1528 (11th Cir. 1989)
Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster, 984 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 2008)
Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc. v. Devon Neighborhood Ass'n., Inc., 33 So. 3d 48 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009)
Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n. v. All the Way With Bill Vernay, 864 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)

Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n. v. Johnson, 39 So. 2d 1348 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980)24
Fla. Ins. Guar. Assn. v. Jacques, 643 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)30
Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n., Inc. v. Olympus Ass'n., Inc., 34 So. 3d 791 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010)30
Fleeman v. Case, 342 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976)
Florida Sel. Ins. Co. v. Keenlean, 727 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)34
Galindo v. ARI Mut. Ins. Co., 203 F. 3d 771 (11th Cir. 2000)39
Gonzalez v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 805 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)
Gray Mart, Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 703 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)
Hassen v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 674 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1996) 17, 20, 22, 23
Hausler v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., 374 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979)24
In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 509 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1987)28
Isaacson v. Calif. Ins. Guar. Ass'n., 790 P. 2d 297 (Cal. 1988)31
J. Wise Smith & Assoc. v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 925 F. Supp. 528 (W.D. Tenn 1995)37
Johnson v. Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co., 828 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 2002) 33, 38
Jupiter Ocean and Racquet Club Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Courtside Properties of Palm Beach, LLC, 17 So. 3d 854, 856 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009)23
Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Bonjorno, 494 U.S. 827, 110 S.Ct. 1570, 108 L.Ed.2d 842 (1990)
Kester v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 726 F. Supp. 1015 (E.D. Pa. 1989)36
Laborers' Pension Fund v. Blackmore Sewer Constr., Inc., 298 F. 3d 600 (7th Cir. 2002)
Landgraf v. USI Film Prods., 511 U.S. 244, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 128 L.Ed.2d 229 (1994)
Liton Lighting v. Platinum Television Group, Inc., 2 So. 3d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008)36
Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co. v. Ceballos, 440 So. 2d 612 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)17
Marine Environ. Partners, Inc. v. Johnson, 863 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).36

Menendez v. Progressive Express Ins. Co., 35 So. 3d 873 (Fla. 2010) 11, 12, 17, 20
Metropolitan Prop. and Life Ins. Co. v. Gray, 446 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)
Miller & Solomon Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. Brennan's Glass Co., Inc., 824 So. 26 288 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)36
Oken v. Williams, 23 So. 3d 140 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009)
Old Port Cove Holdings, Inc. v. Old Port Cove Condominium Assoc. One, Inc. 986 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 2008)
Phillips v. Gen. Accident Ins. Co. of Am., 685 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)34
Pinellas County v. Banks, 19 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1944)25
Pondella Hall For Hire, Inc. v. Lamar, 866 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)18
Preziose v. Lumbermen's Mut. Cas. Co., 568 A.2d 397 (Vt. 1989)27
R.A.M. of South Florida, Inc. v. WCI Communities, Inc., 869 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)
Ramcharitar v. Derosins, 35 So. 3d 94 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010)
Scheer v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 175 A.D. 2d 640, 572 N.Y.S. 2d 572 (4th Dept. 1991)26
Schreffler v. Penn. Ins. Guar. Ass'n., 402 Pa. Super. 307, 586 A. 2d 983 (Pa Super. Ct. 1991)30
Smith v. Civil Serv. Employees Ins. Co., No. 04-0201 PHX MEA, 2005 WL 2620537 (D. Ariz. Oct. 13, 2005)38
Southland Corp. v. Keating, 465 U.S. 1, 104 S.Ct. 852, 79 L.Ed.2d 1 (1984)27
State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Gant, 478 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 198528
State, Dep't. of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1977)
Strominger v. AmSouth Bank, 991 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008)35
Taylor v. State, 969 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)
Tobin v. Sunshine State Ins. Co., 777 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)34
U.S. v. Behmanshah, 49 Fed. Appx. 372 (3d Cir. 2002)
U.S. Fidel. & Guar. Co. v. Romay, 744 So. 2d 467 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999)(en banc) 38
U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. Franko, 443 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)34

<i>Usery v. Turner Elkhorn Mining Co.</i> , 428 U.S. 1 (1976)
Walker v. Cash Register Auto Insurance of Leon County, Inc., 946 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006)
Weingrad v. Miles, 29 So. 3d 406 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010)
Williams v. Campaganulo, 588 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1991)27
Williams v. Fla. Ins. Guar. Assoc., Inc., 549 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) 30, 31, 33
Williams v. Jones, 326 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1975)
Wilson v. Fed. Nat. Ins. Co., 969 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)36
Yamaha Parts Distrib., Inc. v. Ehrman, 316 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1975) 18, 23, 28
Statutes
Section 627.4025, Florida Statutes
Section 627.7015, Florida Statutes
Section 631.54, Florida Statutes
Other Authorities
Chapter 2005-111, Laws of Florida
Charles B. Hochman, <i>The Supreme Court and the Constitutionality of Retroactive Legislation</i> , 73 Harv. L. Rev. 692 (1960)
Fla. H.R. Comm. on Insurance, HB 1937 (2005) Staff Analysis (April 24, 2005).15
Fla. S. Comm. Banking and Insurance Committee, CS/SB 2428 (2003) Staff Analysis (April 22, 2003)
Rules
Fla. Admin. Code R. 69J-2.003
Rule 9.130, Fla. R. App. Pro

I. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹</u>

A. <u>Devon's Insurance Claim</u>

Respondent, Devon Neighborhood Association, Inc. ("Devon"), purchased an insurance policy from Southern Family Insurance Company ("Southern Family") for the twelve (12) month period commencing December 31, 2004. [App. 14:86-146]. The Southern Family Policy was in full force and effect when Hurricane Wilma caused damage to Devon on October 24, 2005.

Devon submitted a claim for damage resulting from Hurricane Wilma by filing two sworn proofs of loss with Southern Family. [App. 8:64, 9:65]. On February 24, 2006, Devon executed the First Sworn Proof of Loss and alleged partial hurricane damage in the amount of \$1,478,873.53. [App. 8:]. On April 28, 2006, Devon executed its Second Sworn Proof of Loss, which amended the First Sworn Proof of Loss, removed the word partial, and alleged total hurricane damage in the total amount of \$2,711,099.83. [App. Tab 9].

On June 1, 2006, less than one month after the submission of the Second Proof of Loss, the Leon County Circuit Court entered an order declaring Southern Family insolvent. As of the date of the insolvency order, Southern Family had paid

¹ The facts contained within this brief are similar to and based upon the corresponding portions of the initial brief FIGA filed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on March 3, 2009. Pursuant to the Court's September 22, 2010 order accepting jurisdiction, the Clerk of Court for the Fourth District Court of Appeal has been ordered to provide this Court with paginated and indexed copies of the briefs filed in that court. Counsel for FIGA has contacted the Fourth District's clerk who indicated the record would be timely transmitted to this Court.

Devon \$2,548,425.27, inclusive of the \$511,173.87 applicable hurricane deductible. [App. 29:281].

Southern Family's insolvency triggered FIGA's obligations under section 631.57, Florida Statutes, to provide a mechanism for the payment of "covered claims." Following its assumption of certain of Southern Family's obligations, FIGA paid an additional \$1,731,941.69 to Devon. [App. 29:281]. Between Southern Family and FIGA, Devon had been paid \$4,280,467.56, inclusive of the hurricane deductible. [App. 29:230, 21:243, 29:281]. Of course, that is \$1,569,367.73 higher than the amount Devon provided as its total damage in its Second Sworn Proof of Loss.

B. <u>Devon's Supplemental Claim</u>

On February 4, 2008, FIGA received a letter of representation from Devon's counsel, and a letter presenting a supplemental claim consisting of previously unclaimed damages in the amount of \$4,800,286.84. [App. 10:66-67, 11:68-69]. This amount of new damages exceeded the \$4,280,467.56 previously paid to Devon, and was 514% higher than the amount Devon claimed in its First Sworn Proof of Loss. The February 4, 2008 letter attached an estimate from an entity called Hunter R Contracting and stated that "all windows and sliding doors need to be replaced with impact type per code...The Roof estimates clearly show that all three roofs on Buildings (C, G and H) need to be replaced." [App. 11:68].

C. <u>Devon's Lawsuit and FIGA's Appraisal Demand</u>

On February 11, 2008, only seven days after FIGA received the letter submitting the supplemental claim, Devon filed its two count complaint against FIGA for breach of statutory duties and duties under the insurance contract and for declaratory relief. [App. 14:74-146]. On March 4, 2008, exactly one month after FIGA's receipt of the supplemental claim letter, Devon served FIGA with the Complaint.

i. FIGA's Appraisal Demand

On March 31, 2008, only twenty-seven days after it was served with the Complaint, and prior to taking any other action, FIGA demanded appraisal pursuant to the Policy which, in relevant part, states:

2. Appraisal

If we and you disagree on the value of the property or the amount of loss, either may make written demand for an appraisal of the loss. In this event, each party will select a competent and impartial appraiser. The two appraisers will select an umpire. If they cannot agree, either may request that selection be made by a judge of a court having jurisdiction. The appraisers will state separately the value of the property and amount of loss. If they fail to agree, they will submit their differences to the umpire. A decision agreed to by any two will be binding. Each party will:

- a. Pay its chosen appraiser; and
- b. Bear the other expenses of the appraisal and umpire equally.

If there is an appraisal, we will still retain our right to deny the claim.

[App. 13:72]. FIGA made its appraisal demand clear by simultaneously doing three different things. On March 31, 2008, FIGA sent an appraisal demand letter to Devon via certified mail and United States mail. [App. 12:70-71]. In its appraisal demand letter, FIGA stated it "demands that the valuation of the damage and loss be determined in accordance with the terms of the Policy." [App. 12:70-71]. Also on March 31, 2008, FIGA served its Motion to Compel Appraisal and Stay Action. [App. 4:11-26]. In its Motion to Compel Appraisal and Stay Action, FIGA asked the trial court to stay the action and compel an appraisal to determine the amount of loss. [App. 4:22]. FIGA also served its Answer, Defenses and Affirmative Defenses, which included both an affirmative defense demanding appraisal and a demand for appraisal in the "Prayer for Relief." [App. 15:147-167]. The affirmative defense stated "[p]ursuant to the Policy, FIGA has demanded Appraisal and this action should be stayed until the Appraisal process is completed." [App. 15:164]. Further, the "Prayer for Relief" demanded that "the Court order appraisal pursuant to FIGA's Motion to Compel Appraisal." [App. 15:165].

On April 29, 2010, Devon filed its "Response and Memorandum of Law in Opposition to FIGA's Motion to Compel Appraisal." [App. 5:27-35]. Devon stated that "all parties agree that there is a valid contract of insurance, but disagree as to the amount...and who should determine the amount of loss: the Court or an appraisal." [App. 5:27]. Devon raised two arguments in opposition to FIGA's

motion. First, Devon argued that "FIGA waived and is barred from electing the Appraisal process by 'taking action inconsistent' with the claimed right to Appraisal, including...making payment of disputed amounts at issue during litigation." [App. 5:28]. As the record shows, there was no such payment "during litigation." Devon stated that "the undersigned counsel...specifically requested that FIGA reevaluate the claim [and] FIGA took an unreasonable amount of time to re-evaluate the claim." [App. 5:28]. As was stated above, Devon filed its lawsuit only seven days after FIGA received the referenced letter. Devon's second argument was that FIGA waived its claim of entitlement by failing to provide statutory notices of Plaintiff's right to mediation." [App. 5:28]. Subsequently, FIGA filed its reply brief in support of its motion to compel appraisal. [App. 6:36-42].

The trial court held a hearing on FIGA's Motion to Compel Appraisal on September 4, 2008. [App. 7:43-63]. At the hearing, counsel for FIGA stated "[t]he first thing that FIGA did in response to the lawsuit was file, was send a letter demanding appraisal. We answered it, and concurrently filed a Motion to Compel Appraisal and stay the case pending that appraisal." [App. 7:44]. Importantly, both at the hearing on the Motion to Compel Appraisal and Stay Action and in the motion itself, FIGA informed the trial court that FIGA was "not wholesale denying coverage at all." [App. 4:20; 7:44, 45, 46]. As it did in its written response, Devon argued: (1)

-

² Counsel for the Respondent was not representing Devon in the trial court at that time.

FIGA denied coverage, which, according to Devon, waives the right to appraisal; (2) FIGA acknowledged coverage by paying funds to Devon, which, according to Devon, waives the right to appraisal; (3) FIGA failed to comply with Section 627.7015, Florida Statutes, which, according to Devon, both applies to FIGA and is a waiver of appraisal; and (4) FIGA waived appraisal by answering the Complaint without demanding appraisal and by responding to discovery. In rebuttal, FIGA argued that (1) FIGA did not deny coverage, and even if FIGA had partially denied coverage, such a partial denial does not constitute a waiver of the right to appraisal; (2) FIGA's payments of funds to Devon prior to the receipt of the letter on February 4, 2008, whereby Devon increased its claim 514% over its First Sworn Proof of Loss, does not constitute a waiver of the right to appraisal; (3) Section 627.7015, Florida Statutes, was not enacted until after the Southern Family Policy was issued, the statute at the time the Southern Family Policy was issued did not apply to policies covering condominium associations and did not include a penalty, and regardless, the statute does not apply to FIGA; and (4) FIGA did not answer the Complaint without demanding appraisal, at all times indicated its intent to enter appraisal, and never acted inconsistent with its appraisal demand.

ii. <u>Discovery And Related Issues In The Trial Court</u>

FIGA did not initiate any discovery in the trial court. However, on May 8, 2008, FIGA complied with its obligations pursuant to the Florida Rules of Civil

Procedure and responded to discovery that Devon had served with its Complaint. Failing to respond to the discovery could have subjected FIGA to penalties, a "catch-22" situation recognized by the trial court. Contained within FIGA's Interrogatory Responses and incorporated into each individual interrogatory response was an objection stating "FIGA objects to responding to the First Set of Interrogatories as FIGA has properly demanded appraisal and therefore, the above-captioned action should be stayed." [App. 16:172]. In response to Interrogatory Number 5, which generally requested that FIGA provide Devon with the amount of loss, FIGA stated it "disputes the amount of covered losses. Therefore, FIGA has demanded appraisal." Further, FIGA specifically referenced its demand for appraisal in [App. 16:174]. response to interrogatories numbered 6, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16, and 17. [App. 16:175, 177-181]. Similarly, contained within FIGA's Response to Devon's Request for Production was an objection incorporated into each individual response stating "FIGA objects to responding to these Requests as there is a pending Motion to Compel Appraisal." [App. 17:193]. Clearly, FIGA did not voluntarily participate in discovery and FIGA did not initiate any discovery. Rather, FIGA responded to discovery pursuant to the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and at all times indicated its intent to enter an appraisal to determine the amount of loss.

On June 13, 2008, the trial court entered its Pretrial Order and Order Setting

Trial. Included within the Pretrial Order were certain deadlines, including a deadline

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