IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

DEVON NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION INC. D/B/A DEVON NEIGHBORHOOD & CONDOMINIUMS A-J ASSOCIATION, INC.

Respondent.

CASE NO.: SC10-347

L.T. NO.: 4D09-377

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

DANIEL S. ROSENBAUM Florida Bar No. 306037 RICHARD VALUNTAS Florida Bar No. 0151084 MARK G. KEEGAN Florida Bar No. 503371 ROSENBAUM MOLLENGARDEN JANSSEN & SIRACUSA, PLLC 250 Australian Avenue, South, 5th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone Number (561) 653-2900 Facsimile Number (561) 820-2542

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The plain language in section 627.7015(1) demonstrates the statute is procedural, or remedial, in nature. In fact, section 627.7015 is entitled "Alternative *procedure* for resolution of disputed property insurance claims." § 627.7015, Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). In addition, the "Purpose and Scope" section of 627.7015 specifically states that the statute "sets forth a nonadversarial alternative dispute resolution *procedure* for a mediated claim resolution conference prompted by the need for effective, fair, and timely handling of property insurance claims." Id. (emphasis added). The purpose of the *procedure* set forth in section 627.7015 is to "bring the parties together for a mediated claims settlement conference without any of the trappings or drawbacks of an adversarial process." Id. The statute also

encourages the insureds and insurers to resolve claims as quickly as possible "[b]efore resorting to these *procedures*." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). Even the preamble to the law enacting the applicable version of section 627.7015 specifically states the statute is being amended to revise the "purpose and scope provisions relating to an alternative *procedure* for resolution of disputed property insurance claims; providing that failure of an insurer to notify a claimant of the availability of mediation excuses an insured from being required to submit to certain loss appraisal processes." Ch. 2005-111, Laws of Fla. The language establishing that section 627.7015 is procedural in nature existed before, as well as after, the statutory amendments became effective on July 1, 2005.

The First District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>M.D. Transp. v. Paschen</u>, 996 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) is instructive on this issue. In <u>M.D. Transp.</u>, a worker was injured and sought benefits. After the worker was injured and filed his claim, section 440.25(4)(d) of the Florida Statutes was amended to state that "[a]ny benefit due but not raised at the final hearing which was ripe, due, or owing at the time of the final hearing is waived." The Judge of Compensation Claims (JCC) concluded that the amendment to section 440.25(4)(d) was inapplicable because it substantively affected the worker's entitlement to benefits. The First District reversed the JCC's ruling because the statute did not:

alter Claimaint's substantive right to receive medical treatment or the type of treatments to which Claimant is entitled. The language only

prescribes the means and methods with which he must comply to establish his entitlement to medical treatment. The statutory change is procedural and applies regardless of the date of the accident. The JCC erred in holding the section to be substantive.

<u>Id.</u> at 905.

Section 627.7015, like the statute at issue in M.D. Transp., does not alter FIGA's substantive right to participate in the appraisal process. Instead, the language in section 627.7015 only prescribes the means and methods with which FIGA (or its predecessor, Southern) must comply before it can proceed through the appraisal process. Section 627.7015 does not involve any coverage issues at all, and "[o]nly the process of settling the claim is affected by the statute." Devon Neighborhood Ass'n Inc., 33 So. 3d at 54. Accordingly, the Fourth District's decision in this case should be affirmed because procedural statutes, like section 627.7015, can be applied retroactively. Village of El Portal, 362 So. 2d at 278; Warfel v. Universal Ins. Co. of N. Am., 36 So. 3d 136, 137 n.2 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010)(affirming retroactive application of a statute that (1) required creation of report a from a professional engineer or geologist regarding a sinkhole loss, and (2) presumed that the findings of the professional generating the report were correct);³ Firestone v. Firestone, 263 So. 2d 223, 225 (Fla. 1972)("the findings of the lower court are not necessarily binding and controlling on appeal, and if these findings

³ The Second District's decision in <u>Warfel</u> is currently pending before this Court in Case No. 10-948.

are grounded on an erroneous theory, the judgment may yet be affirmed where appellate review discloses other theories to support it.").

This Court has previously held that "[i]f a statute is found to be remedial in nature, it can and should be retroactively applied in order to serve its intended purposes." <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So. 2d 1027, 1028 (Fla. 1986). "A remedial statute is one which confers a remedy and the means employed in enforcing a right or in redressing an injury." <u>Snellgrove</u>, 616 So. 2d at 529. Section 627.7015 was enacted because the Florida Legislature found that "[t]here is a particular need for an informal, nonthreatening forum for helping parties who elect this procedure to resolve their claims dispute because most homeowners' and commercial residential insurance policies obligate insureds to participate in a potentially expensive and time-consuming adversarial appraisal process prior to litigation." § 627.7015(1), Fla. Stat. Thus, the Fourth District's decision in this case should also be affirmed because section 627.7015 is remedial in nature.

Section 627.7015 is a Permissible Exercise of the State's Police Powers

FIGA's argument in this case ignores the fact that retroactive application of section 627.7015 is a permissible exercise of the state's police powers. All contracts entered into in Florida are "subject to the valid exercise of the police power of the state." <u>Telophase Soc'y of Fla., Inc. v. State Bd. of Funeral Dirs. &</u> Embalmers, 308 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); McConville v. Ft. Pierce

<u>Bank & Trust Co.</u>, 135 So. 392, 395 (Fla. 1931)("It is well established that all contracts are inherently subject to the paramount powers of the sovereign and the exercise of such power is never understood to involve their violation."). It is beyond dispute that "the business of insurance is affected with a public interest and as such is subject to reasonable regulation under the police power." <u>Springer v.</u> <u>Colburn</u>, 162 So. 2d 513, 514 (Fla. 1964). "The legitimate exercise of the police power cannot constitute an impairment of contract," and FIGA's Initial Brief does not address how the state purportedly abused its police power by enacting section 627.7015. <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, FIGA's argument should be rejected.

The law is clear that the Contracts Clause and the Due Process Clause do not override "the power of the state to establish all regulations that are reasonably necessary to secure the health, safety, good order, comfort, or general welfare of the community; that this power can neither be abdicated nor bargained away, and is inalienable even by express grant. . ." <u>Atlantic Coast Line R.R. Co. v. City of Goldsboro</u>, 232 U.S. 548, 558 (1914). All contract rights are held subject to the fair exercise of the state's police powers. <u>Id.; Golden v. McCarty</u>, 337 So. 2d 388, 390 (Fla. 1976). There is no absolute right to contract as one chooses because the guarantee of liberty "does not withdraw from legislative supervision that wide department of activity which consists of the making of contracts, or deny to government the power to provide restrictive safeguards. Liberty implies the

absence of arbitrary restraint, not immunity from reasonable regulations and prohibitions imposed in the interests of the community." <u>Southern Utils. Co. v.</u> <u>City of Palatka</u>, 99 So. 236, 240 (Fla. 1924)(internal quotation omitted). The Florida Legislature's enactment of section 627.7015, and the retroactive application thereof, constitutes a reasonable regulation enacted for the best interests of Florida's residents.

"Reasonable regulation under the police power may include the alteration or modification of remedies in force at the time a contract is entered into." Springer, 162 So. 2d at 515. Section 627.7015 is a permissible exercise of the state's police powers because it simply modifies the remedies in force at the time Devon purchased an insurance policy from Southern. Nothing in section 627.7015 involves the substantive coverage that was provided to Devon by the Southern insurance policy. Instead, "[o]nly the process of settling the claim is affected by the statute." Devon Neighborhood Ass'n Inc., 33 So. 3d at 54. Section 627.7015 was enacted because the Florida Legislature found that "[t]here is a particular need for an informal, nonthreatening forum for helping parties who elect this procedure to resolve their claims dispute because most homeowners' and commercial residential insurance policies obligate insureds to participate in a potentially expensive and time-consuming adversarial appraisal process prior to litigation." § 627.7015(1), Fla. Stat. Since the enactment of section 627.7015 constitutes a permissible exercise of the state's police powers, this Court should affirm the Fourth District's decision in this case.

No Conflict Exists Because the Cases FIGA Relies Upon are Distinguishable

FIGA argues that the Fourth District's opinion should be reversed because it did not employ the two-part test utilized in <u>Menendez</u>, <u>Old Port Cove</u>, and <u>Chase Fed. Hous</u>. Such an argument is misplaced because the cases FIGA relies upon are all distinguishable. FIGA argued to the Fourth District that applying the notice provisions of section 627.7015(2) in this case would amount to an unconstitutional impairment of the insurance contract. <u>Devon Neighborhood Ass'n Inc.</u>, 33 So. 3d at 50. The Fourth District analyzed FIGA's argument by applying the general test this Court established to ascertain whether a statute violates Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Id.</u> at 50-51; <u>Pomponio</u>, at 378 So. 2d 780-782. For the reasons set forth below, the Fourth District's analysis below was proper and did not conflict with <u>Menendez</u>, <u>Old Port Cove</u>, or <u>Chase Fed. Hous</u>.

The instant case involves Devon's first-party property insurance breach of contract action against FIGA, and the Fourth District applied the binding authority set forth in <u>Pomponio</u>. FIGA does not cite any case from this Court holding that the <u>Pomponio</u> test is inapplicable in first-party property insurance cases. In fact, all of the cases from this Court that FIGA relies upon to support its argument are distinguishable because they are not first-party property insurance cases. For

26

example, in <u>Old Port Cove</u> the Court analyzed a statute abrogating the common law rule against perpetuities. The Court's decision in <u>Chase Fed. Hous.</u> addressed the Dry Cleaning Contamination Cleanup Act, which has nothing to do with a firstparty property insurance case.

The Court's decision in <u>Menendez</u>, which dealt with Florida's Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law, is also distinguishable. <u>Menendez</u>, 35 So. 3d at 875. Florida's No-Fault Law is unique because it abrogated certain common law tort principles in order to provide swift and automatic payment so that the injured insured may get on with his life without undue financial interruption.⁴ The statute at issue in <u>Menendez</u> required the insured to provide notice to the insurer before filing an action for overdue PIP benefits and provided an insurer additional time to pay an overdue claim. However, "[b]efore the addition of the statutory presuit notice provision, section 627.736 did not require an insured to provide notice to an insurer before filing an action for overdue benefits." <u>Id.</u> at 878.

In <u>Menendez</u>, this Court dealt with the application of a "presuit notice" requirement of a statute that would harm the insured in a PIP case. The Court was concerned that the statute impaired "the right of the insured to recover in a 'swift and virtually automatic' way," which created "the potential for interfering with the PIP scheme's goal of being a reasonable alternative to common law tort

⁴ In contrast, nothing in section 627.7015 abrogated common law tort principles in order to provide swift and automatic payment.

principles." <u>Id.</u> This Court ruled in favor of the insured and held that the statute could not be applied retroactively.

The instant case, unlike <u>Menendez</u>, involves the application of a procedural statute to a common law breach of a property insurance contract claim. FIGA argued below that applying the notice provisions of section 627.7015(2) would amount to an unconstitutional impairment of the insurance contract. The Fourth District applied the <u>Pomponio</u> test and concluded that the application of section 62707015(2) in this case did not constitute an unconstitutional impairment of the insurance policy. The Fourth District's ruling in this case, like this Court's decision in <u>Mendedez</u>, favored the insured and the prompt resolution of insurance claims.

FIGA sought review in this Court based upon a purported conflict between <u>Devon</u> and various other cases.⁵ However, "[c]onflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Nothing within the four corners of the Fourth District's opinion in this case expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Menendez</u>, <u>Old Port Cove</u>, or <u>Chase Fed. Hous</u>. In addition, a

⁵ Neither <u>Weingrad v. Miles</u>, 29 So. 3d 406 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) nor <u>Coventry First</u>, <u>LLC v. State</u>, <u>Office of Ins. Regulation</u>, 30 So. 3d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010), the other cases cited in FIGA Jurisdictional Brief, dealt with a breach of a property insurance contract. In addition, neither case addressed whether the application of a statute would amount to an unconstitutional impairment of contract.

review of <u>Devon</u> and this Court's decisions in <u>Menendez</u>, <u>Old Port Cove</u>, and <u>Chase Fed. Hous.</u> shows that the cases are factually distinguishable. When cases are factually distinguishable, there is no conflict jurisdiction. <u>Benefield v. State</u>, 160 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1964); <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1962). Thus, the Court should exercise its discretion and decline jurisdiction over this case because there is "no express and direct conflict between these opinions within the four corners of [the Fourth District's] decision." <u>Hill v. Hill</u>, 778 So. 2d 967, 967 (Fla. 2001).

The Fourth District's Opinion in this Case Should be Affirmed even if this Court Utilizes the Two-Pronged Test Espoused by FIGA

Assuming *arguendo* that the test utilized in <u>Menendez</u>, <u>Old Port Cove</u>, and <u>Chase Fed. Hous.</u> is applicable in this case, the Fourth District's decision in <u>Devon</u> should still be affirmed. In <u>Menendez</u>, the Court applied a two-pronged test to determine whether a statute should be applied retroactively. "First, the Court must ascertain whether the Legislature intended for the statute to apply retroactively. Second, if such an intent is clearly expressed, the Court must determine whether retroactive application would violate any constitutional principles." <u>Menendez</u>, 35 So. 3d at 877. For the reasons set forth below, the amendments to section 627.7015 should be applied to the instant case.

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